# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 12/9/2021 12:25 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 100424-9

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### DAVID O'DEA,

Petitioner,

VS.

CITY OF TACOMA, a public agency; and TACOMA POLICE DEPARTMENT, a public agency,

Respondent.

APPEAL FROM DIVISION II OF THE COURT OF APPEALS No. 53613-7-II

AMENDED PETITION FOR REVIEW

Brett A. Purtzer WSB # 17283

HESTER LAW GROUP, INC., P.S. Attorneys for Petitioner 1008 South Yakima Avenue, Suite 302 Tacoma, Washington 98405 (253) 272-2157

#### **

#### I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

David O'Dea is the petitioner herein and was the respondent/cross appellant in the Court of Appeals (hereafter COA).

#### II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

A copy of the decision from the COA, Division II, issued August 24, 2021 is attached as Exhibit "A". Division II's order denying reconsideration issued November 1, 2021 is attached as Exhibit "B".

#### III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether the COA erred by reversing the trial court's penalty decision based on an abuse of discretion when the trial court possesses substantial discretion in awarding penalties for PRA violations and the COA did not establish that the trial court's decision was manifestly unreasonable or based on untenable grounds or reasons?

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. FACTS

#### 1. Background

Petitioner David O'Dea worked for the Tacoma Police

Department (hereafter "TPD") from 1994 through 2017. CP 16.

In August 2016, O'Dea was involved in an officer-involved shooting and was subsequently placed on administrative leave, pursuant to policy. As part of that policy, TPD took his Cityissued computer, denied him entry to TPD facilities, and ordered that he not access any records, including those policies that he was accused of violating. Id. After being placed on leave, O'Dea, on no fewer than 20 occasions, individually, through his union representation, and through his department-designated point of contact, made numerous PDRs, to no avail.

No records were provided.

Due to TPD's failure to respond to any of O'Dea's requests, O'Dea's counsel sent two public disclosure request (PDR) letters to the TPD dated March 24, 2017, and March 28,

2017. CP 23-26. Those two letters, wrote and mailed on two different days, were also ignored, with the City of Tacoma (hereafter "City") claiming they were not received. The City failed to respond to any of O'Dea's PDRs or those made by his counsel. CP 20. As such, on November 9, 2017, O'Dea filed a public records complaint against the City and TPD, which complaint was amended on November 13, 2017. CP 1-12, 15-26.

The City answered O'Dea's amended complaint on December 22, 2017. CP 27-40. Although the City denied that it previously received the March 24 and March 28, 2017, letters which were attached to the complaint as Exhibits "A" and "B", it admitted that the letters referenced PDRs. CP 33.

The City was fully aware of the PDRs detailed in the letters received by the City as of November 9, 2017. Both the City's legal counsel for this case and TPD's Chief Legal Advisor, Mike Smith (also a City legal advisor), acknowledged such. CP 313, 351.

For unknown and unexplained reasons, neither litigation counsel nor Smith forwarded the March 24 and 28, 2017 requests to Lisa Anderson, the City's public disclosure analyst, until August 24, 2018. CP 357.

#### 2. Summary Judgment Motion and Trial

On June 29, 2018, O'Dea filed a motion for partial summary judgment with supporting documentation. CP 41, 42-46, 47-50. On September 6, 2018, the City filed a motion for summary judgment with supporting documentation. CP 51-72, 73-185, 186-289, 290-298, 299-301, 302-304, 305-307. Both parties filed a response to the competing motions. CP 308-318, 319-347, 348-352, 353-357, CP 358-361, 362-391, 392-403. On October 1, 2018, both parties filed reply briefs to the respective motions. CP 404-410, 411-141, 415-420, 421-426, 427-428, 429-430.

On October 29, 2018, the court granted both party's summary judgment motions. CP 433-438, 439-442. In the order granting O'Dea's motion for summary judgment, the

court held that based upon the City's receipt of the letters attached to the November 9, 2017 complaint, the City had received notice, as of that date, of O'Dea's PDRs, and that by not responding, the City violated the PRA. CP 437-439.

The court heard the penalty trial on January 7, 2019. RP 1-58. On February 6, 2019, the court entered its penalty decision for the City's PRA violations. CP 583-585. The court order awarded O'Dea \$39,500.00 in penalties for the PRA violation related to the March 24, 2017, PDR, and \$1,731,280.00 in penalties for the PRA violation for the March 28, 2017, PDR. CP 583-85. The court held as follows regarding the penalty:

The City has acknowledged receipt of the Plaintiff's complaint with the attached PRA requests on November 9, 2017 and does not dispute that the letters, on their face, state that they are requests for public records." The City also admits that it "has established procedures on how to process any PRA requests. Aggravating factors that warrant a penalty amount being imposed are that the Plaintiff had an administrative matter involving his employment where time was of the essence in receiving the requested documents. The City's explanation for noncompliance is unreasonable as the letters were clearly

marked as PRA requests and the reasons for the filing of the complaint was because of the City's failure to respond to the request. Instead of verifying if the records were received the City prepared to defend the allegations made in the complaint. This course of action resulted in additional months of the requests not being complied with *and was at a minimum negligent* as it should have been the first questioned answered upon receiving the complaint. [Emphasis added].

CP 584-85. The court order also required the City to identify and produce additional records identified in the order:

Defendant shall identify and produce to Plaintiffs *all* results of the further search within 30 days of the date of this Order and any penalties for additional documents identified in the search will be determined later upon completion of the search. [Emphasis added.]

CP 585.

#### 3. Post Trial

Although the court ordered the City to comply with the order of production within 30 days of its trial decision, the City failed to do so. CP 584-585. Significantly, but at that time unknown, O'Dea subsequently learned that the City had been systematically and purposefully destroying records that were relevant to the March 24 and 28, 2017 records requests.

On March 12, 2019, O'Dea's wife, Beverly O'Dea, filed two separate PDRs for copies of all required annual reports filed by the City, seeking the PDR logs, copies of the City's and TPD's records retention logs, and all associated disposition authority numbers. CP 910-911, 959-960. After reviewing the documentation received in response to these PDRs, O'Dea learned that documents that had been previously requested, and which the Court ordered be produced, had been destroyed while litigation ensued based on instructions from, and with approval by, City Attorney Mike Smith, the TPD records retention coordinator and public records expert. CP 911-912.

Additionally, these records were identified and authorized for destruction by one of O'Dea's union representatives during his internal affairs investigation,

Christopher Karl, who was fully aware of the on-going litigation, both as union representative, and later during the case, as the internal affairs lieutenant working on the case

against O'Dea on behalf of TPD, working directly with TPD Legal Advisor Mike Smith. CP 912.

O'Dea also recognized that numerous documents requested still had not been produced and specifically identified such outstanding records in supplemental declarations. Beyond the records destroyed, the City also remained silent, failing to explain where the other records were located, identifying what efforts had been taken to locate the missing records, or why they failed to produce them. CP 720-740.

Part of the PDRs O'Dea sought were training records.

Upon review of the disposition numbers, it became clear that the records O'Dea requested had been destroyed during the period of time that the litigation ensued. CP 921-935.

Although the trial court properly awarded penalties for the City's delay in producing documents, the trial court erred by not requiring the City to continue to search for documents based upon evidence provided by O'Dea, which decision the COA affirmed.

## V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

Division II's decision reversing the trial court's award of penalties in this Public Records Act case conflicts with this Court's multiple decisions that grant trial courts considerable discretion when imposing penalties for a PRA violation pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1). Additionally, this petition raises issues of substantial public interest regarding the Public Records Act because the public interests were not protected, as required by the PRA, and this Court should accept review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(4).

#### A. PUBLIC RECORDS ACT LEGAL PRINCIPLES.

"The PRA presents a mandate for the broad disclosure of public records." West v. City of Puyallup, 2 Wn.App.2d 586, 592, 410 P.3d 1197 (2018). "RCW 42.56.030 directs that the PRA be liberally construed in favor of disclosure." Id. Further, a "state or local agency has an affirmative duty to disclose

public records upon request unless the PRA or another statute exempts the records from disclosure." <u>Id.</u>

"The PRA must be 'liberally construed and its exemptions narrowly construed' to ensure that the public's interest is protected." Germeau v. Mason County, 166

Wn.App. 789, 802, 271 P.3d 932 (2012). "In construing the PRA, [the court looks] at the act in its entirety in order to enforce the law's overall purpose." Id. "The purpose of the PRA is to 'ensure the sovereignty of the people and the accountability of the governmental agencies that serve them' by providing full access to information concerning the conduct of government." Kitsap County Prosecuting Attorney's Guild v. Kitsap County, 156 Wn.App. 110, 118, 231 P.3d 219 (2010).

"Under the PRA, all state and local agencies must disclose any public record upon request unless the record falls under a statutory exemption." Germeau, supra, at, 803. An agency must respond within five business days of receiving a PDR. See RCW 42.56.520. The PRA "only applies when

public records have been requested. In other words, public disclosure is not necessary until and unless there has been a specific request for public records." Wood v. Lowe, 102 Wn.App. 872, 876-77, 10 P.3d 494 (2000).

The COA affirmed the trial court's decision that the City had fair notice of the March 24 and March 28 PDR requests, yet failed to appropriately respond. COA decision at 2, 6, 13, 22. As a result, penalties are appropriate.

# B. THE APPELLATE COURT ERRED BY REVERSING THE TRIAL COURT'S AWARD OF PENALTIES.

As this Court is aware, "a trial court's award of penalties for a PRA violation is reviewed for abuse of discretion."

Yousoufian v. Office of Ron Sims, 168 Wn.2d 444, 458, 229

P.3d 735 (2010) (Yousoufian II). "A court abuses its discretion only when it adopts a view 'that no reasonable person would take' or when it bases its decision on 'untenable grounds or reasons'." Id. at 458-59.

"A trial court abuses its discretion if its decision is manifestly unreasonable or based on untenable grounds or reasons." Yousoufian II, 168 Wn.2d at 458, 229 P.3d 735. "A trial 'court's decision is "manifestly unreasonable" if "the court, despite applying the correct legal standard to the supported facts, adopts a view 'that no reasonable person would take.'"'" Id. at 458-59, 229 P.3d 735 "A decision is based 'on untenable grounds' or made 'for untenable reasons' if it rests on facts unsupported in the record or was reached by applying the wrong legal standard." Rohrich, 149 Wn.2d at 654, 71 P.3d 638 (quoting State v. Rundquist, 79 Wn.App. 786, 793, 905 P.2d 922 (1995)); see also State v. Sisouvanh, 175 Wn.2d 607, 623, 290 P.3d 942 (2012).

RCW 42.56.550(4)'s grant of discretion in awarding PRA penalties "is only meaningful if appellate courts review the trial courts imposition of that penalty under an abuse of discretion standard of review." Yousoufian v. Office of Ron Sims, 152 Wn.App. 421, 431, 98 P.3d 463 (2004) (Yousoufian

I). "[A]n appellate court's 'function is to review claims for abuse of trial court discretion with respect to the imposition or lack of imposition of a penalty, not to exercise such discretion ourselves.'" Id. at 430, 98 P.3d. The Yousoufian II factors are judicially crafted guidelines that overlay a statutory grant of trial court discretion. They "may overlap, are offered only as guidance, may not apply equally or at all in every case, and are not an exclusive list of appropriate considerations." Yousoufian II, 168 Wn.2d at 468, 229 P.3d 735 (emphasis added).

Our case law demonstrates that trial courts have considerable discretion to determine appropriate penalties for PRA violations. Even when given specific guidance on what a trial court should consider in assessing penalties, this Court has emphasized that "[t]hese factors should not infringe upon the considerable discretion of trial courts to determine PRA penalties." Yousoufian II, 168 Wn.2d at 468. The trial court in this case did not abuse this considerable discretion.

As the COA recognized in its opinion,

In <u>Yousoufian</u>, the Washington Supreme Court "set forth a nonexclusive list of aggravating and mitigating factors, including agency bad faith, to guide trial courts as they exercise discretion." <u>Hoffman</u>, 194 Wn.2d at 219. "[T]he factors may overlap, are offered only as guidance, may not apply equally or at all in every case, and are not an exclusive list of appropriate considerations." <u>Yousoufian</u>, 168 Wn.2d at 468. No single factor controls, and the factors themselves "should not infringe upon the considerable discretion of trial courts to determine PRA penalties." <u>Id.</u>

#### COA Opinion, at 15-16.

Pursuant to the trial court's considerable discretion, its decision should not be disturbed particularly since the trial court is in the best position to "make an individual, fact-driven inquiry into what PRA penalties are necessary to achieve the penalty provision's goal in deterring unlawful nondisclosure." Yousoufian II, 168 Wn.2d at 462-63.

The appellate court referenced that the trial court did not make a bad faith finding, yet as <u>Yousoufian II</u> explicitly warned ""a strict and singular emphasis on good faith or bad faith is inadequate to fully consider a PRA penalty determination."

<u>Sargent v. Seattle Police Dep't.</u>, 179 Wn.2d 376, 397-98, 314

P.3d 1093 (2013) (holding that the trial court abused its discretion by focusing exclusively on agency bad faith).

Of the trial court's three aggravating factors, one was deterrence, which is a factor that can be given greater weight.

See Yousoufian II at 168 Wn.2d at 463. Although Yousoufian II gives the trial court great latitude on penalty determination, the appellate court criticized the trial court because it did not cite more aggravating factors or give more explanation. The trial court's determination, however, that deterrence was necessary, is sufficient. No law cited by the appellate court requires such additional findings.

O'Dea's situation represents the exact reason why the PRA was established, with the intended penalties appropriately applied, and he should not be penalized for the City's failure to abide by reducing the award. To do so effectively provides no accountability to the City for its continued and intentional disregard for the PRA, frustrating the PRA's intended purpose.

The appellate court's reversal of the award penalizes O'Dea, a citizen the PRA was intended to protect.

#### 1. PENALTY CALCULATION

#### a. Per Day Penalty Was Appropriate

Although the COA recognized the trial court's considerable discretion to determine PRA penalties, the COA reversed the trial court's decision in not only the amount, but in the method of calculation.

The COA based its decision on two issues it deemed significant: (1) that the monetary per day penalty, although at the low end, was too high as it resulted in a large penalty, and (2) that a per record penalty calculation, as opposed to grouping documents, was improper. Respectfully, the COA is in error.

With respect to the per day penalty, in simultaneous briefings, both O'Dea and the City suggested a \$10.00 per day penalty as appropriate for the court's consideration for penalties. See CP 486 and 491. Since both parties suggested that a \$10.00 per day penalty was the appropriate amount, the

trial court could not have abused its discretion by setting the per day penalty at \$10.00.

Division II's opinion compares the \$2.6 million penalty in O'Dea to the approximately \$500,000 penalty assessed in Wade's Eastside Gun Shop, Inc. v. Dept. of Labor & Industries, 185 Wn.2d 270, 277-79, 372 P.3d 97 (2016) as evidence that the O'Dea trial court's award was improper. Although the O'Dea award is greater than the assessed Wade's penalty, such award does not establish that the trial court abused its considerable discretion, and no case law supports such suggestion.

Additionally, Division II referenced that the O'Dea penalty "amounts to almost \$12 for each of Tacoma's approximately 220,000 residents, an amount more than 35 times higher than the per-resident amount approved in Hoffman." COA opinion at 17. The PRA, however, makes no reference to a "per resident" fine but rather a "per document" fine and the reference is unwarranted in this matter. For the

COA to insert into the intent of RCW 42.56 a per capita application wholly changes the law as written, as well as changing its intent. Such language was not included, nor intended or it would have been inserted when written.

Additionally, the \$12 per Tacoma resident is nowhere near the per-resident penalty held reasonable in Zink v. City of Mesa, 9 Wn.App.2d 385, 419 P.3d 847 (2018). (The COA affirmed a penalty assessment of \$175,000 against the City of Mesa, which amounted to \$350.00 per taxpayer.)

To reverse the penalty has a polarizing effect on the PRA's intent and signifies that the court favors government over the citizens who are negatively impacted. The intent of the legislature was to establish a process which can be applied uniformly and fairly across the board, similar to the established range of sentencing in criminal cases.

Further, counsel is unaware of any case law stating that trial courts must tailor a decision to a specific penalty amount or that a multiplier of population is appropriate to determine if a

trial court's award is an abuse of discretion. If such was the case, any time a large multi-million-dollar verdict was returned against a governmental entity, such argument would be raised.

Such consideration should not be relevant in this case.

The O'Dea trial court determined the assessed penalty was appropriate and *necessary* to deter the City from future misconduct, which supports, rather than negates, the trial court's decision. Significantly, this is not the first time the City, and the same agency within the City, was held to have recently violated the PRA. See West v. City of Tacoma, 12 Wn.App.2d 45, 456 P3d 894 (2020); Banks v. City of Tacoma, No. 52072-9-II (unpublished opinion June 2, 2021).

Further, there is no evidence supporting the fact that the trial court's application of the \$10.00 per day penalty, which was suggested by both parties, was an abuse of discretion.

Respectfully, the COA, by reversing the trial court's penalty award, exercised its discretion over that of the trial court's, which is improper pursuant to this Court's precedent.

#### b. Per Record Penalty Was Appropriate

Given the trial court's considerable discretion, the trial court imposed a per record penalty, as opposed to grouping documents, which this Court has held appropriate. Wade's, supra, at 277-78.

O'Dea requested specific, identifiable, and individual records, each of which stands on their own.

Wade's further stated that "the PRA defines 'a public record' to include 'any writing containing information related to the conduct of government'." RCW 42.56.010(3) . . . "A 'writing' is defined to include 'all papers'." RCW 42.56.010(4). "A single page fits within the plain language of this broad definition." Id.

Limiting trial courts to imposing penalties based on a set definition of "record" would deny them the flexibility needed to respond appropriately to PRA violations in this age of rapidly advancing technology. The trial court is in the best position to make an individual, fact-driven inquiry into what PRA penalties are necessary to achieve the penalty provision's goal of deterring unlawful nondisclosure. *See Yousoufian II*, 168 Wn.2d at 462-63. Allowing courts to define "said public record" in a way

that makes sense for the particular case promotes the most effective implementation of the PRA. In this case, the trial court's determination that each withheld page constituted a record was a reasonable interpretation of the PRA within its discretion. We affirm the trial court's imposition of a per page penalty.

#### Wade's, at 280.

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