FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
2/9/2022 2:55 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 100424-9

Court of Appeals No. 53613-7-II

IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DAVID O'DEA,

Petitioner,

٧.

CITY OF TACOMA, a public agency; and TACOMA POLICE DEPARTMENT, a public agency,

Respondents.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW & CONTINGENT CROSS PETITION FOR REVIEW

MASTERS LAW GROUP, P.L.L.C. Kenneth W. Masters, WSBA 22278 241 Madison Avenue North Bainbridge Island, WA 98110 (206) 780-5033 ken@appeal-law.com

Attorney for Respondents

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

As further discussed *infra*, the Court of Appeals did not err – much less act in conflict with existing appellate precedent. Rather, the court properly followed this and other courts' precedents in holding that the trial court's \$2.6 million penalty was manifestly unreasonable. O'Dea v. *City of Tacoma*, 19 Wn. App. 2d 67, 84-91, 493 P.3d 1245 (2021) (attached as Appendix B).² Specifically, the trial court used a *per record multiplier* for more than 700 records to reach its "extreme" penalty. **O'Dea**, 19 Wn. App. 2d at 86. It reached \$7,000 per day, even at the relatively low \$10 penalty amount. Id. The appellate court correctly noted that "an extreme per record multiplier" like this one "should be justified with a robust explanation for the severity of the

² Citing *Hoffman v. Kittitas Cnty.*, 194 Wn.2d 217, 449 P.3d 277 (2019); *Wade's Eastside Gun Shop, Inc. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 185 Wn.2d 270, 372 P.3d 97 (2016); *Yousoufian*, *supra*; *Zink v. City of Mesa*, 4 Wn. App. 2d 112, 419 P.3d 847 (2018); *Andrews v. Wash. State Patrol*, 183 Wn. App. 644, 334 P.3d 94 (2014); *Hobbs v. Wash. State Auditor's Office*, 183 Wn. App. 925, 335 P.3d 1004 (2014).

penalty" and "should be reserved for the most extreme cases . . . involving a bad faith withholding of a record subject to intense public interest." *Id.* at 86-87.

Yet the trial court here imposed its unprecedented \$2.6 million penalty "based on minimal discussion, a total of five sentences, mentioning three aggravating factors." *Id.* at 88. It "did not include any discussion of why mitigating factors did not apply, nor did it say why the circumstances of this case were particularly egregious." *Id.* "The trial court did not find any bad faith." *Id.*

Simply put, the trial court stated no tenable basis for imposing this manifestly unreasonable and "astoundingly high penalty." *Id.* at 88. Absent any bad faith on the City's part, three aggravators are grossly insufficient to justify "an amount more than 35 times higher than" the penalty for much more egregious, bad-faith withholding. *Id.* at 86. And the trial court's silence on mitigators unjustly leaves the City guessing as to why it suffered such a high penalty.

REASONS THIS COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW

A. O'Dea states no cognizable basis for review.

O'Dea fails to cite or discuss this Court's criteria for accepting review. This alone is a sufficient ground on which to deny his Petition. This Court should do so.

B. There is no conflict with any precedent.

Arguing the merits, O'Dea implies – but never argues – that the *O'Dea* decision fails to follow this Court's precedents. Yet he *quotes* a portion of the appellate decision's analysis that properly cites (and then applies) this Court's precedents. See PFR 16 (quoting *O'Dea*, 19 Wn. App. 2d at 85 (quoting *Yousoufian* and *Hoffman*, *supra*)). Indeed, the appellate decision carefully applies the abuse of discretion standards, and properly finds a manifest abuse of discretion. That is a standard of *review*, so it is certainly not "improper" for the appellate court to *find* an abuse of discretion under it.

1. The decision does not hold that a \$10 perday penalty is an abuse of discretion.

O'Dea first aims at a nonexistent target: the \$10 perday penalty. PRF 18-21. He again *falsely* claims that the City "agreed to" \$10, but in fact, when faced with the trial court's determination that some penalty was appropriate, the City *argued* that a \$10 *per diem* should be the *maximum* penalty; it nowhere conceded that *any* penalty would be appropriate here. But beyond that, the decision nowhere asserts that a \$10 per-day penalty is an abuse of discretion. O'Dea's claim is false.

2. The decision correctly holds that an unexplained *per-record multiplier* is an abuse of discretion under these circumstances, which involve no bad faith.

O'Dea's second specific claim (PFR 22-23) aims closer to the mark, but nonetheless misses the point: the appellate court held that the trial court's *per-record multiplier* was an abuse of discretion where, as here, no bad faith exists and the trial court found only three

aggravators, while failing to discuss any mitigators. *O'Dea*, 19 Wn. App. 2d at 85-88. That is, it simply held that "the overall amount was manifestly unreasonable, especially in light of the trial court's lack of supporting explanation." *Id.* at 88. This is *classic* abuse of discretion review.

It is also correct on the merits. It is undisputed that the City never received the PRA requests O'Dea's counsel allegedly mailed. *Id.* at 73. When he later attached them to a complaint, the City's Answer expressly denied ever receiving them, explaining that it thus never failed to respond to a proper PRA request, thereby plainly stating a proper statutory ground for denying them. *Compare* CP 33, 37 (denying receipt of either PRA letter) *with* RCW 42.56.520(1)(e) (denying the request is an acceptable response) *and with* RCW 42.56.520(4) (denials "must be accompanied by a written statement of the specific reasons therefor"). It is not possible to be *more specific* than this:

we never received them and thus never refused or failed to respond to them. Id.; see Contingent Cross Petition, infra.

Based on the undisputed fact that the City never received O'Dea's requests by mail, the trial court found no bad faith. Yet it imposed the largest-ever PRA fine by failing to group the records or to consider mitigators. A failure to exercise discretion is an abuse of discretion. **Bowcutt v. Delta N. Star Corp.**, 95 Wn. App. 311, 320, 976 P.2d 643 (1999) (citing **State v. Pettitt**, 93 Wn.2d 288, 296, 609 P.2d 1364 (1980)).

In light of the undisputed facts, O'Dea's claim that this penalty is "self-inflicted" rings exceedingly hollow. The appellate decision notes numerous significant mitigators that the trial court failed to even consider, such as:

- (1) the City's lack of bad faith;
- (2) O'Dea's failures to bring a show cause motion and to respond to the City's requests for clarification;
- (3) the City's immediate and timely PRA responses once O'Dea finally clarified that the *denied* requests

attached to his complaint should now be treated as *new* requests;

- (4) the absence of any determination that the City's diligent responses after notice were unduly delayed; and
- (5) the necessity of giving the City reasonable time to diligently locate and assemble the records.

O'Dea, 19 Wn. App. 2d at 82, 88-91.

Ultimately, all that the appellate court did here was to send the matter back for a proper exercise of discretion.

O'Dea's "the sky is falling" claims are unfounded. Simply requiring a reasonable exercise of discretion cannot "threaten" the PRA. This Court should deny review.

3. O'Dea lay in wait rather than seeking a show-cause order to obtain records.

O'Dea makes a misleading claim that the appellate court misunderstood the facts. PFR 23-24. The decision's point was that O'Dea had the right to seek a show-cause order within weeks after allegedly mailing his PRA requests. See, e.g. RCW 42.56.550 (permitting hearing to determine issues in a PRA case); **Wood v. Lowe**, 102 Wn.

App. 872, 875-76, 10 P.3d 494 (2000) (PRA requestor sought show-cause order within two weeks of filing her request); O'Neill v. City of Shoreline, 170 Wn.2d 138, 153, 240 P.3d 1149 (2010) (the usual method of resolving litigation under the PRA is a show cause hearing). The City never received his mailed requests, and O'Dea never sought a show-cause order, even after he filed his Complaint. Indeed, O'Dea's counsel had filed many PRA requests with the City, and he had always received a response – yet he did not even inquire this time. The trial court abused its discretion in not even considering these mitigating factors.

4. Finding 8 is contrary to law.

O'Dea falsely claims that the appellate court "reversed the trial court's award of additional penalties for the City's failure to conduct an adequate search for the records requested." PFR 26 (citing nothing). No such analysis or holding appears in the appellate decision.

Rather, the appellate court never addresses the trial court's improper Finding 8:

That additional documents were found after the Court's February 6, 2019 order supports a finding that the City's prior search in response to the March 28, 2017 request was inadequate.

CP 1114 (F/F 8). The City assigned error to this Finding and argued that it is *contrary to law* because the mere fact that a record is eventually found does not *itself* establish the inadequacy of an agency's search. See, e.g., **Kozol v. Dep't of Corr.**, 192 Wn. App. 1, 8, 366 P.3d 933 (2015).

But the appellate court reversed and remanded *the* entire \$2.6 million penalty as manifestly unreasonable. Whether any penalties are warranted and what those might be will be up to the trial court on remand. The appellate court's silence on this issue is no ground for review.

C. No issue of substantial public interest exists.

O'Dea also fails to argue that this matter is of substantial public interest. It is not. He was properly fired for repeatedly endangering the public, which was affirmed

on appeal. His wrongful termination action was properly dismissed, as also affirmed on appeal. Since O'Dea had no legally cognizable claims, the City's not realizing that two exhibits attached to his Complaint could possibly be live PRA requests – even after it denied them – cannot have harmed him or the public. The public has no interest in this sort of "gotcha" PRA litigation.

This Court should deny discretionary review.

D. O'Dea is not entitled to any attorney fees award.

O'Dea asks for attorney fees for *filing* his Petition for Review. He cites nothing because nothing authorizes awarding fees for filing a PFR. On the contrary, this Court's Rules permit a fee award for *answering* a PFR. RAP 18.1(j). Thus, this Court may award fees to the City when it denies O'Dea's PFR, but no fees or costs are otherwise awardable. And as discussed *infra*, O'Dea has *not* prevailed, so he is not entitled to any fee award, anywhere. This Court should deny both fees and review.

CONTINGENT CROSS PETITION FOR REVIEW

For the reasons noted *supra*, this Court should deny review and permit the trial court to engage in a proper exercise of discretion. But if this Court accepts review, then in the interests of justice, it should also accept the City's issues raised in its briefing and Motion for Reconsideration.

ISSUES RE: CONTINGENT CROSS PETITION

Did the appellate court err in holding that the City's denial of O'Dea's legally ambiguous PRA requests was unclear?
 Did it err in holding that O'Dea prevailed despite losing
 \$2.6 million, his cross appeal, and his trial court fees?

FACTS RE: CONTINGENT CROSS PETITION

This appellate decision reversed the trial court's unprecedented and manifestly unreasonable award of PRA penalties (\$2.6 million) and remanded for reconsideration of penalties. Additionally, the court upheld the dismissal of O'Dea's roughly two-dozen other PRA claims, rejecting O'Dea's cross appeal *in toto*. It also

reversed and remanded his fee award in the trial court.

O'Dea raises none of his cross-appeal issues in his PFR,
so those decisions are final.

Yet the appellate court held that despite losing a \$2.6 million penalty award, his cross appeal, and his fee award, O'Dea *prevailed* on appeal by winning one novel issue of first impression (whether two PRA requests attached as exhibits to a Complaint – requests the City denied because it never received them – were somehow new PRA requests). It thus awarded him fees on appeal.

ARGUMENT RE: CONTINGENT CROSS PFR

A. The City's denial (in its Answer) of O'Dea's unreceived PRA requests (attached to his Complaint) was as clear as it possibly could be.

The appellate court incorrectly held that the "trial court properly concluded that the City violated the PRA when it failed to respond to the two PRA request letters when it received them as attachments to the complaint." **O'Dea**, 19 Wn. App. 2d at 72. And it incorrectly rejected the

City's argument that it properly *denied* those PRA requests in its Answer, although conceding that it "is true that '[d]enying the public record request' is one acceptable response to a PRA request under RCW 42.56.520(1)(e)," but noting that "'[d]enials of requests must be accompanied by a written statement of the specific reasons therefor." *Id.* at 83 (quoting RCW 42.56.520(4)). "Silent withholding is prohibited," but no one claims that the City was *silent*. *Id*.

Rather, the appellate court found that the "City's answer did not meet these requirements for establishing a clearly stated denial of the public records requests including a statement of reasons for the denial." *Id.* 83-84. This analysis unfortunately overlooked the key facts in the record, failing to even mention the language in the City's Answer denying O'Dea's PRA requests, which the City repeatedly cited in its opening and reply briefs (CP 33, 37):

[The City] denies that either the Tacoma Police Department or the City of Tacoma City Clerk ever received the letter attached as Exhibit "A" to Plaintiff's Amended Complaint and further denies that it refused or failed to respond to any such public records request.

[The City] denies that either the Tacoma Police Department or the City of Tacoma City Clerk ever received the letter attached as Exhibit "B" to Plaintiff's Amended Complaint and further denies that it refused or failed to respond to any such public records request.

[The City] denies that it ever received the alleged requests for public records as outlined in Exhibits "A" and "B" to plaintiff's Amended Complaint. [The City] denies ... any remaining allegations contained in this paragraph.

These denials could not have been clearer. They explained *that* and *why* the requests were denied: *the City never received them*. O'Dea's proper response to this denial (as the appellate court notes in its penalty analysis) was to seek an order to show cause, or just to make a phone call. O'Dea did neither.

But the City should not be, and is not, legally required to explain more than that it was denying the requests because it never received them. Certainly, the PRA imposes no such requirement. RCW 42.56.520(4)

("[d]enials of requests must be accompanied by a written statement of the specific reasons therefor"). The "specific reason" the City denied O'Dea's requests is that it never received them. Appellate courts may not add additional requirements to the PRA.

If there had been any uncertainty here, O'Dea's choice to attach the letters to his Complaint created it. While (as the City argued) the complaint exhibits were certainly legally ambiguous, that was O'Dea's choice. See BA 19-25. The City should not be penalized for *properly* answering his Complaint and *unequivocally* explaining *why* it was denying his requests: it never received them.

There is nothing unclear about that. While this Court should deny review, if it nonetheless grants review, then in the interests of justice, it should consider both whether O'Dea's legally ambiguous choice to attach the letters to a complaint somehow revived them and whether the City's Answer denying them was clear. See BA 4.

B. By any reasonable standard, O'Dea has not prevailed on appeal.

Had the trial court entered a reasonable PRA penalty, the City likely would not have appealed. The City has always – quite reasonably – conceded that the Complaint Exhibits themselves (the two PRA letters) are PRA requests on their face. Admittedly, the legal ambiguity that O'Dea created by attaching his unreceived requests to a complaint was concerning. Indeed, the *O'Dea* decision may well invite all sorts of litigation shenanigans by *creative* PRA requestors.

But *by far* the major issue in this appeal was whether this "astoundingly high penalty" could stand. *O'Dea*, 19 Wn. App. 2d at 85. The City prevailed on that key issue. And O'Dea obviously did not prevail by losing \$2.6 million. He did not prevail by losing his cross appeal regarding his roughly two dozen *other* claims. And he did not prevail by losing his attorney fee award in the trial court.

Yet the appellate court held that he is the prevailing party in this appeal. 19 Wn. App. 2d at *48-49. *No one* could reasonably be said to have prevailed, where he lost \$2.6 million, lost his cross appeal, and lost his fee award in the trial court. O'Dea *lost*: he did not prevail.

CONCLUSION

This Court should deny review and grant the City fees. If not, it should also review the City's issues. It should not grant fees to O'Dea in any event.